Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Peptides

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/peptides

# Review Ghrelin and its biological effects on pigs

## Xiao-Ying Dong<sup>a</sup>, Jian Xu<sup>a</sup>, Sheng-Qiu Tang<sup>a,\*</sup>, Hai-Yun Li<sup>b</sup>, Qing-Yan Jiang<sup>b</sup>, Xiao-Ting Zou<sup>c</sup>

<sup>a</sup> College of Yingdong Bioengineering, Shaoguan University, Daxue Avenue, Zhenjiang District, Shaoguan 512005, Guangdong, China
<sup>b</sup> College of Animal Science, South China Agriculture University, Guangzhou 510642, Guangdong, China
<sup>c</sup> College of Animal Science, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310029, China

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 January 2009 Received in revised form 1 March 2009 Accepted 2 March 2009 Available online 20 March 2009

Keywords: Ghrelin Peptide GHS-R Pig Function

### Contents

#### ABSTRACT

Ghrelin is a 28 amino acid peptide, which produces its marked effects through binding to the endogenous ligand of the growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHS-R). Based on the contemporary literatures, it was shown that ghrelin was involved in a series of biological functions including regulation of food intake, body weight, gastrointestinal (GI) motility, hormone secretion, glucose release, cardiovascular functions, enzyme release, cell proliferation and reproduction in pigs through binding to GHS-R 1a or unidentified receptors. It was also observed that ghrelin induced adipocyte and hepatocyte proliferation of primary cultured piglet. In this paper, recent research on ghrelin structure, distribution, GHS-R receptor, biological functions and its regulatory mechanisms for pigs are presented.

© 2009 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

		1001				
1.	Introduction					
2. Structure and distribution of ghrelin						
	2.1. Structure of ghrelin	. 1204				
	2.2. Distribution of ghrelin	. 1204				
3.	Regulation of ghrelin expression and secretion	. 1204				
	3.1. Ghrelin secretion and expression in fed or fasted animals	. 1204				
	3.2. Nutrient and ghrelin secretion.	. 1204				
	3.3. Hormonal regulation of ghrelin expression and secretion	. 1204				
4.	Ghrelin receptor.	. 1206				
	4.1. GHS-R structure	1206				
	4.2. GHS-R activity	1206				
5. Physiological functions of ghrelin						
	5.1. Effects on food intake	. 1206				
	5.2. GH secretion.	. 1206				
	5.3. Gastrointestinal activities	. 1207				
	5.4. Glucose release	. 1207				
	5.5. Cardiovascular functions	. 1207				
	5.6. Cell proliferation and apoptosis	. 1207				
	5.7. Enzyme release	. 1207				
	5.8. Reproduction	. 1207				
	5.9. Other functions.	. 1208				
6.	Ghrelin secretion and regulatory mechanisms in pigs	. 1208				
7. Conclusions						
	Acknowledgements					
	References	1209				

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +86 751 8620272. *E-mail address:* sunofsun@msn.com (S.-Q. Tang).

0196-9781/\$ – see front matter @ 2009 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2009.03.001





## 1. Introduction

Ghrelin can be found in rat stomach and was regarded as the endogenous ligand specific for growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHS-R), which was then purified and reported to have stimulating effect on growth hormone (GH) release both in vivo and in vitro [68]. With the discovery of ghrelin, many scholars and their teams aimed at this peptide study on different species like humans, rodents, livestock species, birds and fish. They indicated that ghrelin was the gut hormone with direct effects [86], and it was also a multifunctional peptide including regulation of feeding behavior [8,18,81,108], neuroendocrine response to stress and hormone secretion [9], tissue growth and development [35,76,113,129], increasing GI motility [5,112], control of cell proliferation [11], energy homeostasis [70,100], hormone secretion [63,67], and modulation of the reproductive axis [32,104]. Recently, the ghrelin peptide was reported that it played an important biological role in attenuating the development of some diseases in rats [22,55,58] and was closely related to human diseases [1,57,72,74,85,110]. In pigs, ghrelin also showed its specific functions compared with other animals. Thus, relevant researches on ghrelin structure, distribution, GHS-R receptor, physiological functions and its regulatory mechanisms in pigs were reviewed in the paper.

### 2. Structure and distribution of ghrelin

#### 2.1. Structure of ghrelin

Ghrelin is a peptide of 28 amino acids which has two major endogenous forms: a des-acylated form (des-acyl ghrelin) and a form acylated at serine 3 (ghrelin). Acylation is indispensable for ghrelin to bind GHS-R1a and serine 3 residue is n-octanoylated with the n-octanoylation at Ser-3 which is essential to stimulate GH release [68]. Ghrelin is found in mammalian species as well as nonmammalian species. Moreover, ghrelin structure, particularly that of the acyl-modification regions, is highly conserved throughout vertebrate species [25,69]. Porcine ghrelin is derived from a 118-residue prepro-peptide by post-translational cleavage, and it is the 25–52 peptide segment of prepro-ghrelin (Fig. 1).



**Fig. 1.** Gene and amino sequences of porcine ghrelin. Porcine ghrelin derives from a 118-residue ghrelin precursor by post-translational cleavage, and is a peptide from 25 to 52 segment of ghrelin precursor. Porcine ghrelin has 28 amino acids which can be acylated at serine 3. Gene and amino sequences of porcine ghrelin are quoted from GenBank accession (no. AF308930).

#### 2.2. Distribution of ghrelin

Ghrelin was expressed abundantly in stomach, pituitary [68] and arcuate nucleus in rats [73]. By means of semi-quantitative RT-PCR, Raghay et al. found that the ghrelin molecule was expressed in adrenal gland and pheochromocytomas in humans and rats [89]. Des-octanoylated ghrelin and n-octanoylated ghrelin were both found in rat stomach [107]. The latest reports showed that ghrelin producing cells had an abundant expression in stomachs of cow, sheep, pig and horse, especially in the cardiac and pyloric region of pig stomach [51], which was also found in porcine GI tract [117].

Ghrelin mRNA expression was up-regulated 10 days after weaning in the gastric fundus of piglets [28]. The distribution of Ghrelin mRNA was discovered in hypothalamus, stomach, duodenum, jejunum, ileum, liver, kidney, heart and pancreas of pig aged 90 days and postnatal pig [121]. Following their initial reports, Yang and his colleagues extracted a 282 bp ghrelin mRNA fragment by RT-PCR from the tissue of pigs, and they cloned this ghrelin gene [122]. Due to the wide expression of ghrelin in human and animal bodies, the ghrelin could be considered as a multifunctional peptide under many physiological conditions.

### 3. Regulation of ghrelin expression and secretion

## 3.1. Ghrelin secretion and expression in fed or fasted animals

The previous reports showed that ghrelin mRNA expression in the gastric fundus increased, but ghrelin peptide content decreased after a 48 h fast. The plasma ghrelin concentration in the gastric vein and systemic venous blood increased in 24 h and 48 h fasted rats. Both values returned to control levels after refeeding [107]. The plasma ghrelin concentration in cows decreased significantly at the moment of 1 h after feeding, and then recovered to pre-feeding levels [51]. Salfen et al. tested the weaned pigs with feed deprivation, and the evidence that while the level of ghrelin in serum became higher was provided, the expression of ghrelin mRNA tended to be lower in stomachs, pituitary glands, and hypothalami [95] of pigs. Starvation increased plasma ghrelin level in prepuberal gilts [44].

#### 3.2. Nutrient and ghrelin secretion

Nutrient contents are much more important factors for the regulation of ghrelin expression and release. Dietary supplementation with zinc oxide enhanced ghrelin production from gastric mucosal cells of piglets at the post-transcriptional level [123]. With oral infusion of tryptophan in weanling pigs, Zhang et al. revealed that ghrelin mRNA was increased in gastro-intestinal mucous membrane and ghrelin level was increased in the plasma [125]. Growing swine infused with a low dose of morrhuate sodium selectively into the left gastric artery showed a significant increase in serum ghrelin values, but at a higher dose, the mean baseline ghrelin values decreased [3]. In 2008, Arepally et al. took an intimate research and indicated that catheter-directed gastric artery chemical embolization (GACE) resulted in suppression of systemic ghrelin levels during the 4 weeks study [4].

### 3.3. Hormonal regulation of ghrelin expression and secretion

Hormones are important factors of regulating ghrelin expression and secretion. The ghrelin mRNA level in the rat stomach increased after the administration of insulin and leptin [107]. Rak and Gregoraszczuk studied the effect of GH and insulin-like growth factor (IGF-I) on ghrelin synthesis and secretion in cultured whole porcine follicles, and it was demonstrated that GH stimulated both ghrelin synthesis and secretion in the ovarian follicles, whereas IGF-I showed less influence [90]. After intravenous (IV) injection of peptide YY (PYY) (3–36) in castrated male pigs, plasma acyl-ghrelin levels did not show a significant change [60].

GHSR-1a:	
Pig	MWNATPSEEPGPNLTLPDLGWDAPPENDSLVEELLPLFPTPLLAGUTATCVALFVUGIAG
Human	MWNATPSEEPGFNLTLADLDWDASPGNDSLGDELLQLFPAPLLAGUTATCVALFVUGIAG
Rat	MWNATPSEEPEPNUTL-DLDWDASPGNDSLPDELLPLFPAPLLAGUTATCVALFVUGISG
Chicken	MR
Pig	NLLTMLUUSRFREMRTTTNLYLSSMAFSDLLIFLCMPLDLFRLWQYRPWNLGNLLCKLFQ
Human	NLLTMLUUSRFRELRTTTNLYLSSMAFSDLLIFLCMPLDLURLWQYRPWNFGDLLCKLFQ
Rat	NLLTMLUUSRFRELRTTTNLYLSSMAFSDLLIFLCMPLDLURLWQYRPWNFGDLLCKLFQ
Chicken	NLMTMLUUSRFRDMRTTTNFYLSSMAFSDLLIFLCMPLDLFRLWQYRPWNFGDLLCKLFQ
Pig	FUSESCTYATULTITALSUERYFAICFPLRAKUUUTKGRUKLUILUIWAUAFCSAGPIFU
Human	FUSESCTYATULTITALSUERYFAICFPLRAKUUUTKGRUKLUIFUIWAUAFCSAGPIFU
Rat	FUSESCTYATULTITALSUERYFAICFPLRAKUUUTKGRUKLUILUIWAUAFCSAGPIFU
Chicken	FISESCTYSTILNITALSUERYVAICFPLRAKUIITKRKUKLUILILWAUSFISAGPIFU
Pig	LUGUEHDNGTDPRDTNECRATEFAURSGLLTUMUWUSSUFFFLPUFCLTULYSLIGRKLW
Human	LUGUEHENGTDPWDTNECRPTEFAURSGLLTUMUWUSSIFFFLPUFCLTULYSLIGRKLW
Rat	LUGUEHENGTDPRDTNECRATEFAURSGLLTUMUWUSSIFFFLPUFCLTULYSLIGRKLW
Chicken	LUGUEHENGTNPLSTNECRATEYAIRSGLLTIMUWISSIFFFLPUFCLTULYSLIGRKLW
Pig Human Rat Chicken	******:**:**:**:**:*:*:*:*:*:*****:****:****
Pig Human Rat Chicken	**: : ::**:***************************
Pig	ESSINT
Human	ESSINT
Rat	KSSINT
Chicken	EPTUAT
GHSR-1b:	
Pig	MWNATPSEEPGPNLTLPDLGWDAPPENDSLUEELLPLFPTPLLAGUTATCUALFUUGIAG
Human	MWNATPSEEPGFNLTLADLDWDASPGNDSLGDELLQLFPAPLLAGUTATCUALFUUGIAG
Chicken	MREGSSENRTGGESPLRLFPAPULTGITUACULLFUUGULGNLMTMLUUSRFRDMRTTTN
Pig	NLLTMLVUSRFREMRTTTNLYLSSMAFSDLLIFLCMPLDLFRLWQYRPWNLGNLLCKLFQ
Human	NLLTMLVUSRFRELRTTTNLYLSSMAFSDLLIFLCMPLDLURLWQYRPWNFGDLLCKLFQ
Chicken	FYLSSMAFSDLLIFLCMPLDLFRLWQYRPWNFGDLLCKLFQFISESCTYSTILNITALSU
Pig Human Chicken	FUSESCTYATULTITALSUERYFAICFPLRAKUUUTKGRUKLUILUIWAUAFCSAGPIFU FUSESCTYATULTITALSUERYFAICFPLRAKUUUTKGRUKLUIFUIWAUAFCSAGPIFU ERYUAICFPLRAKUIITKRKUKLUILILWAUSFISAGPIFULUGUEHENGTNPLSTNECR : : .: .: .:
Pig	LUGUEHDNGTDPRDTNECRATEFAURSGLLTUMUWUSSUFFFLPUFCLTULYSLIGRKLW
Human	LUGUEHENGTDPWDTNECRPTEFAURSGLLTUMUWUSSIFFFLPUFCLTULYSLIGRKLW
Chicken	ATEYAIRSGLLTIMUWISSIFFFLPUFCLTULYSLIGRKLWRRKRKNIGPSTIIRDKNNK
Pig	RRKRGEAAVGSSLRDQNHKQTVKMLGGSQCALELSLPGPLHSSCLFSSP
Human	RRRRGDAVVGASLRDQNHKQTVKMLGGSQRALRLSLAGPILSLCLLPSL
Chicken	QTVKMLGMAPRALCLQVRVLVCAREGG

Fig. 2. Alignment of amino acid sequences of pig, human, rat, and chicken GSH-R. GSH-R has two forms: GHSR-1a and GHSR-1b. The GHSR-1a gene sequences are quoted from GenBank accession (nos. U60178, NM198407, U94321, and AB095996), and GHSR-1b are from GenBank accession (nos. U60180, NM004122, and AB095997).

## 4. Ghrelin receptor

#### 4.1. GHS-R structure

In 1996, Howard and his colleagues isolated a receptor in pituitary and hypothalamus, which was unique for GHS action on GH release [56]. The seven transmembrane GHS receptor (GHS-R) has a high degree of homology ranging from 93% to 99% identity by the molecular analysis of human, pig, dog, rat and mouse [25]. Porcine GHS-R has two forms: GHSR-1a consists of 366 amino acid peptides, and GHSR-1b encodes 289 amino acids (Fig. 2).

## 4.2. GHS-R activity

With this chronology, discussion on the activity of GHS-R peptides would be followed by the physiology of ghrelin focused primarily on livestock species [99]. Ghrelin endocrine activities depend entirely upon the acylation and are mediated by GHSR-1a, but des-acyl ghrelin does not bind to GHSR-1a. After acute treatment of porcine pituitary cell cultures with ghrelin, Luque et al. found that ghrelin down-regulated GHS-R expression and showed its functions through this factor [78]. Using RT-PCR and Western Blots, Rak et al. found the expression of GHS-R 1a in cultured whole porcine follicles [91]. They also indicated that ghrelin induced estradiol secretion, cell proliferation through the binding to GHS-R 1a, but it decreased caspase-3 activity which was independent of GHS-R 1a [91]. Other studies showed that ghrelin gene product might act as a survival factor for the cardiovascular system and glucose release in primary cultured porcine hepatocytes through binding to novel, yet being identified receptor, but it is distinct from GHSR-1a [11,38]. Overall, the receptor of ghrelin in pigs needs further investigation.

## 5. Physiological functions of ghrelin

Administration of ghrelin to pigs has been implicated in the regulation of food intake, body weight, gastrointestinal (GI)

#### Table 1

Physiological functions of ghrelin in pigs.

motility and growth hormone (GH) secretion, glucose release, cardiovascular functions, enzyme release, cell proliferation and reproduction *in vitro* or *in vivo* (Table 1).

## 5.1. Effects on food intake

Ghrelin is an appetite-stimulatory signal from stomach, with the effect of activating brain appetite centers, and participating in the control of food intake and the long-term regulation of body weight of rodents [75,109,118] and humans [10,124]. If ghrelin can decrease the period of weaning anorexia and increase body weight gain during the weaning period, pigs will potentially be able to improve resistance to pathological and environmental challenges during this period, and fewer days will be required to reach the slaughter weights [17]. Weaned pigs intravenously infused three times daily for 5 days with human ghrelin, were found to induce positive weight gain and increase eating times compared with that of the saline-infused controls [96]. In growing pigs immunized against ghrelin, the researchers concluded that ghrelin with interaction with its receptors decreased food intake by 15% and body weight gain by 10% compared with the control pigs [115]. These observations suggest that exogenous ghrelin has a variety of endocrine effects and shows potential in increasing body weight gain during weaning, but ghrelin may also negatively influence the food intake and weight gain in growing pigs at different levels.

## 5.2. GH secretion

Ghrelin plays an important role in GH secretion. Earlier experiments revealed that ghrelin peptide exerted very potent and specific GH-releasing activity *in vitro* and *in vivo* in rats [21,62,106,120] and humans [7,27,50,88,101]. Another study reported that central administration of ghrelin in goats dramatically increased plasma GH concentration dose-dependently [51].

More recently, the effects and mechanisms of ghrelin inducing GH secretion were studied in pigs *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *In vitro*, ghrelin showed to be potent at eliciting a GH release from porcine

Model	Types of ghrelin	Experimental treatment	Physiological functions	References				
Weaning piglets	Ghrelin	Intravenous infusion	Stimulate gastric acid secretion	[28]				
Gastric mucosal cells	Ghrelin	Cell culture in vitro	Stimulate both mRNA expression	[28]				
			and activity of H+-+-ATPase					
Porcine ovarian follicles	Ghrelin	Cell culture in vitro	Decrease cells apoptosis	[90]				
			Increase estradiol secretion and					
			aromatase activity					
Primary porcine hepatocytes	Ghrelin Des-acyl ghrelin	Suspension culture	Stimulate glucose output	[38]				
			Inhibit glucose release					
Weaned pigs	Ghrelin	Intravenous infusion	Increase weight gain and eating times	[96]				
			Increase GH concentration					
Growing pigs	<sup>125</sup> I-ghrelin	Active immunization	Decrease food intake and weight gain	[115]				
		against ghrelin						
			Increase GH concentration					
Porcine adenohypophyseal pituitary cells, somatotropes	Ghrelin	Cell culture in vitro	Induce GH release	[41,42,49,77,79,92]				
Pregnant and lactating sows	Ghrelin	Validated radioimmunoassay	Unaffect GH, leptin, and IGF-1 secertion	[45]				
Anesthetized Pigs	Ghrelin	Intracoronary infusion	Cause coronary vasoconstriction	[102]				
Porcine coronary arteries	Ghrelin	Cell culture in vitro	Block Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction	[52]				
Porcine ovarian granulosa cells	Ghrelin	Cell culture in vitro	Reduce MAP3K5 activity Promote cell proliferation	[98]				
Piglet adipose and hepatocyte	Ghrelin	Cell culture in vitro	Stimulate cell proliferation	Unpublished				
rigiet daipose una nepatocyte	Gineini	cen culture in vitro	stimulate cell promeration	observation				
Porcine dispersed pancreatic	Pentaghrelin	Cell culture in vitro	Stimulate amylase release	[46]				
acinar cells			,	1 1				
Virginal gilts	Ghrelin	Semiquantitative RT-PCR and immunohistochemical method	Integrate energy balance and reproduction	[128]				
Porcine <i>in vitro</i> - fertilized (IVF) and parthenogenetic embryos	Ghrelin	Cell culture in vitro	Enhance the pre-implantation development of porcine IVE and parthenogenetic embryos	[11]				

adenohypophyseal cells [49] and porcine ovarian follicles. Furthermore, the effects depended on existence of GHSR-1a [90]. The findings indicated that ghrelin peptide induced GH release from pig pituitary cells through calcium channels and sodium channels [41,42] or under inositol phosphate-, and Ca2 + dependent signaling routes [77,79], and ghrelin could increase GH secretion in cultured pig somatotropes [92] via cGMP-dependent mechanisms. Rak et al. found that ghrelin increased GH secretion but not GH synthesis by ovarian follicles. In vivo, the IV infusion of ghrelin increased serum ghrelin, GH, insulin and cortisol concentrations, whereas serum IGF-1 decreased in these weaned pigs [95,96]. Concentrations of GH were increased in ghrelin immunized growing pigs [115]. Ghrelin concentrations in sow maternal circulation did not play an important role in maintaining circulating GH levels during lactation [45]. Moreover, ghrelin was not associated with leptin, NEFA and IGF-1 levels [45]. The different results in sows may be produced by their special physiological stage.

#### 5.3. Gastrointestinal activities

Produced in stomach and secreted into blood plasma, ghrelin plays a physiological role in the regulation of gastrointestinal motility. The former information showed that *in vitro* or *in vivo* ghrelin could accelerate gastric emptying and regulate gastric phase III-like contractions in rodents [6,24,65,111]. Further studies suggested that des-acyl ghrelin and acylated ghrelin, although they were derived from the same precursor, had the inverse effects on gastric emptying and small intestinal transit and motility through different receptors [19,33,34].

In weaned piglets, ghrelin acted on gastric mucosal cells to stimulate gastric acid secretion *in vivo* and *in vitro* [28]. After birth, while the gastrointestinal tract of piglets undergoes substantial developmental changes in structure and function resulting in adaptation to new dietary conditions, GI tract development is often disturbed [53,71,82], so the contribution of ghrelin to gastrointestinal tract development is of value.

## 5.4. Glucose release

Ghrelin or des-acyl ghrelin administration increased plasma glucose and were involved in glucose metabolism in humans and rats [14,83,114,127]. IV injection of ghrelin also increased plasma glucose concentrations in adult cows, especially in lactating cows [59]. After primary porcine hepatocyte culturing with acylated ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin, Gauna et al. indicated that glucose output by primary hepatocytes was time- and dose-dependently stimulated by ghrelin and inhibited by des-acyl ghrelin [38]. Moreover, des-acyl ghrelin counteracted the stimulatory effect of acylated ghrelin on glucose release [38]. These findings of ghrelin in pigs are consistent with data from studies in humans and other animals, which suggest that ghrelin is likely to play a negative role in glucose metabolism, but differences for the des-acyl ghrelin indicate the further studies in this area.

## 5.5. Cardiovascular functions

The peptide ghrelin was linked to cardiovascular functions. Ghrelin was observed to have treatment-potential for severe chronic heart failure (CHF) and cardiac cachexia based on anticachectic and cardio-protective effects [2]. Schwenke et al. found that early ghrelin treatment prevented the increase in cardiac sympathetic nerve activity (CSNA) after acute myocardial infarction (MI) and improved cardiac function in rats [97]. Ghrelin either in acylated or unacylated forms showed contractile effect on guinea pig papillary muscle and renal artery [26], and affected simultaneously the function of vascular smooth muscle [84]. Intracoronary infusion of ghrelin primarily caused coronary vasoconstriction in pigs, mechanisms of the response were shown to involve the inhibition of a vasodilatory beta (2)-adrenergic receptor-mediated effects related to the release of nitric oxide [46]. The new study showed that ghrelin had a protective effect on the porcine coronary artery by blocking homocysteine (Hcy)-induced endothelial dysfunction, improving endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) expression, and reducing oxidative stress. The effect of ghrelin was dependent on its binding to GSH-R receptor [52]. The direct ghrelin involvement in cardiovascular (CV) system homeostasis suggests that ghrelin mediates CV activities in animals and humans, and ghrelin can be considered as a possible therapeutic target under many pathological conditions associated with CV damage and remodeling.

#### 5.6. Cell proliferation and apoptosis

Ghrelin is involved in cell proliferation and apoptosis through different pathways. For example, ghrelin promotes human aortic endothelial cell (HAEC) proliferation via ERK1/2 and PI3K/Akt activation [93], but inhibits angiotensin II-induced human aortic smooth muscle cells (HASMC) proliferation and contraction via the cAMP/PKA pathway [94]. Ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin inhibited apoptosis of primary adult and H9c2 cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells in vitro through activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase-1/2 and Akt serine kinases [11]. Zhan et al. suggested that ghrelin inhibited both the proliferation and apoptosis of rat vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) [130]. Ghrelin was also reported to cause a facilitative effect on cell proliferation by ovarian follicle which was dependent of its binding to GHSR-1a, while inhibitory effect on cellular apoptosis was reported to be independent of its binding to GHSR-1a [90,91]. Ghrelin reduced apoptosis-related substance-MAP3K5 accumulation and promoted the cell proliferation in porcine ovarian granulosa cells [98]. We have evaluated the effect of porcine ghrelin on cell proliferation in primary cultures of piglet adipocyte and hepatocyte. The investigation showed that this peptide could stimulate proliferation of those cells (unpublished observation). Thus, the effects of ghrelin on cell proliferation and apoptosis indicate that ghrelin may be a protective factor against damage towards body function.

#### 5.7. Enzyme release

Ghrelin is also involved in enzyme release, but the regulatory mechanisms are unknown. Intraduodenal (ID) infusion of ghrelin stimulates pancreatic enzyme secretion in the rat [87]. Jankowska et al. tested cells from rats and pigs and found that ghrelin with maximum 10–9 M hardly inhibited the amylase release from pancreatic acinar cells in rat preparations [61]. However, ghrelin stimulated amylase release from porcine acinar cells by the doses within a range of  $10^{-10}$  and  $10^{-7}$  M but it had no effect on the dose related response [61]. The increase in aromatase activity was noted in ghrelin-treated whole porcine follicles [90]. These results could be implicated in the stimulatory effect of ghrelin on the pancreatic and gonadal exocrine functions.

## 5.8. Reproduction

The previous studies showed that ghrelin gene was expressed in human [39,43], mouse testis [102], and rat Leydig cells and ovary [15,105]. Accordingly, the mRNA and peptide of the putative ghrelin receptor GHS-R was also found in human [39,40] and rat [12,105] testis tissue. The expression of ghrelin and its receptor appear in reproductive system, which indicts that circulating ghrelin might contribute to the functional control of the reproductive axis, but the action of ghrelin upon the axis is complex, and needs further elucidation. In rodent models, the investigations indicated that administration of ghrelin under different conditions inhibited luteinizing hormone (LH) [29–31,36,47,80,103] and gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) secretion [30] *in vivo*, whereas follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) remained unaffected [31]. *In vitro*, ghrelin dose-dependently stimulated basal LH and FSH secretion by pituitary tissue [30,31], but this required the presence of NO and was modulated by ovarian signals [31]. Moreover, ghrelin might decrease LH responsiveness to GnRH *in vitro* [103]. In mice, ghrelin had an inhibitory role in preimplantation development of murine embryos *in vitro* [13,37,64].

In pig, ghrelin mRNA and immunoreactive cells were found in virginal gilt hypothalamo-pituitary-ovary axis by semiquantitative RT-PCR and immunohistochemical method, and the levels of ghrelin changed during the estrous cycle [128]. Ghrelin could enhance the total cell numbers of the *in vitro* fertilized (IVF) and parthenogenetic embryos of pig but decrease the proportion between inner cell mass (ICM) and total cell numbers [126]. Ghrelin increased prostaglandin F (PGF), and E (PGE) secretion in porcine ovarian granulosa cells cultured with ghrelin [98]. Rak and Gregoraszczuk demonstrated that ghrelin induced estradiol secretion, cell proliferation and decrease caspase-3 activity [91]. These findings in animals suggest that ghrelin plays a complex role

in the action of the hypothalamo-gonadotropic-gonadal axis, which is relevant for reproduction.

#### 5.9. Other functions

Furthermore, many studies have indicated that ghrelin may participate in the regulation of water intake [48], sleep [66], myometrial activity [54], intramembranous bone repair [23], immune functions [116], sympathetic nervous activity [119], memory and anxiety [16] in humans and rats, but these results are still unreported in pigs. All the findings in other species open up a new era in our understanding of the regulatory mechanisms and biological functions of ghrelin in pigs.

## 6. Ghrelin secretion and regulatory mechanisms in pigs

Ghrelin was first detected in stomach and was identified as a peripheral metabolic signal informing the brain about nutrient load in the stomach. Ghrelin secreted by the stomach has paracrine or endocrine effects on feeding behavior and GI motility or it circulates in the blood and acts on other target tissues. The new studies demonstrated that peripheral ghrelin induced the fasted motor activity by activating the NPY neurons in the brain, and probably it was the vagal afferent neuron with the ghrelin receptors [34]. Desacyl ghrelin decreased food intake and gastric emptying rate through an action on the paraven-



**Fig. 3.** Ghrelin secretion and regulation mechanisms in pigs. Apart from in the stomach, ghrelin is secreted in a variety of peripheral tissues, although at very low concentration. Paracrine ghrelin secretion from pancreatic cells might be of importance for insulin secretion and cell proliferation. Ghrelin secreted by the stomach has paracrine or endocrine effects on GI motility or circulates in the blood that acts on other target tissues. The functions of ghrelin are mediated by the autonomic nervous system as well as the hypothalamic-pituitary endocrine axis.

tricular nucleus and the arcuate nucleus in the hypothalamus [8]. Chen et al. provided compelling evidence that peripheral ghrelin acted through binding to hypothalamic neuropeptide Y (NPY)/ agouti-related peptide (AgRP) and proopiomelanocortin (POMC) neurons to stimulate feeding [20]. Ghrelin exerted its effects on GI motilily through NPY Y2 or Y4 receptors in the brain, and corticotrophin-regulating factor (CRF) type 2 receptors in the brain mediated the action of des-acyl ghrelin.Vagal afferent pathways might be involved in the action of ghrelin, but not involved in the action of des-acyl ghrelin [33]. Ghrelin stimulated growth hormone release and appetite via the hypothalamus. Peripheral des-acyl ghrelin induced this function through binding to CRF 1 receptor by crossing the blood-brain barrier [19]. Without the action of hypothalamus, ghrelin peptide would induce GH release from cultured cells through calcium channels and sodium channels [41,42] or under inositol phosphate-, and Ca2 + -dependent signaling routes [77,79], or via cGMP-dependent mechanisms [92]. Ghrelin affected cell proliferation via ERK1/2 and PI3K/Akt activation [93], or the cAMP/PKA pathway [94].

Apart from the stomach, ghrelin is secreted in a variety of peripheral tissues, although it is at very low concentration in these tissues. Paracrine ghrelin secretion from pancreatic cells might be of importance for insulin secretion and cell proliferation. The functions of ghrelin are mediated by the autonomic nervous system as well as the hypothalamic-pituitary endocrine axis. Ghrelin secretion and its regulation mechanisms in pigs are shown in Fig. 3.

## 7. Conclusions

Ghrelin plays a crucial role in the regulation of the hypothamicpituitary–gonadal axis of different animal species. In pigs, ghrelin also exerts great influence on the regulation of growth and development, but data on this are limited and they only focus on food intake, GH secretion, gastrointestinal activities, glucose and enzyme release, cardiovascular functions, cell proliferation and reproduction. Many biological functions and their mechanisms of action have been implicated in other species such as human, fish and bird, but they are still unknown in pigs. So, further research on this species needs to be performed in order to gain a better understanding of ghrelin peptide.

## Acknowledgment

This work was supported by the special funds of Research Program of Shaoguan University (No. 2008-182).

#### References

- Ahima RS. Antagonism of ghrelin for glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus? Endocrinology 2007;148:5173-4.
- [2] Akashi YJ, Palus S, Datta R, Halem H, Taylor JE, Thoene-Reineke C, et al. Int J Cardiol, in press.
- [3] Arepally A, Barnett BP, Montgomery E, Patel TH. Catheter-directed gastric artery chemical embolization for modulation of systemic ghrelin levels in a porcine model: initial experience. Radiology 2007;244:138–43.
- [4] Arepally A, Barnett BP, Patel TT, Howland V, Boston RC, Kraitchman DL, et al. Catheter-directed gastric artery chemical embolization suppresses systemic ghrelin levels in porcine model. Radiology 2008;249:127–33.
- [5] Ariga H, Nakade Y, Tsukamoto K, Imai K, Chen C, Mantyh C, et al. Ghrelin accelerates gastric emptying via early manifestation of antro-pyloric coordination in conscious rats. Regul Pept 2007;146:112–6.
- [6] Ariga H, Tsukamoto K, Chen C, Mantyh C, Pappas TN, Takahashi T. Endogenous acyl ghrelin is involved in mediating spontaneous phase III-like contractions of the rat stomach. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2007;19:675–80.
- [7] Arvat E, Di Vito L, Broglio F, Papotti M, Muccioli G, Dieguez C, et al. Preliminary evidence that ghrelin, the natural GH secretagogue(GHS)-receptor lgand, strongly stimulates GH secretion in humans. J Endocrinol Invest 2000;23: 493–5.

- [8] Asakawa A, Inui A, Fujimiya M, Sakamaki R, Shinfuku N, Ueta Y, et al. Stomach regulates energy balance via acylated ghrelin and desacyl ghrelin. Gut 2005;54:18–24.
- [9] Asakawa A, Inui A, Kaga T, Yuzuriha H, Nagata T, Fujimiya M, et al. A role of ghrelin in neuroendocrine and behavioral responses to stress in mice. Neuroendocrinology 2001;74:143–7.
- [10] Asakawa A, Inui A, Kaga T, Yuzuriha H, Nagata T, Ueno N, et al. Ghrelin is an appetite-stimulatory signal from stomach with structural resemblance to motilin. Gastroenterology 2001;120:337–45.
- [11] Baldanzi G, Filigheddu N, Cutrupi S, Catapano F, Bonissoni S, Fubini A, et al. Ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin inhibit cell death in cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells through ERK1/2 and PI 3-kinase/AKT. J Cell Biol 2002;159:1029–37.
- [12] Barreiro ML, Suominen JS, Gaytan F, Pinilla L, Chopin LK, Casanueva FF, et al. Developmental, stage-specific, and hormonally regulated expression of growth hormone secretagogue receptor messenger RNA in rat testis. Biol Reprod 2003;68:1631–40.
- [13] Barreiro ML, Tena-Sempere M. Ghrelin and reproduction: a novel signal linking energy status and fertility? Mol Cell Endocrinol 2004;226:1–9.
- [14] Broglio F, Prodam F, Riganti F, Gottero C, Destefanis S, Granata R, et al. The continuous infusion of acylated ghrelin enhances growth hormone secretion and worsens glucose metabolism in humans. J Endocrinol Invest 2008;31: 788–94.
- [15] Caminos JE, Tena-Sempere M, Gaytan F, Sanchez-Criado JE, Barreiro ML, Nogueiras R, et al. Expression of ghrelin in the cyclic and pregnant rat ovary. Endocrinology 2003;144:1594–602.
- [16] Carlini VP, Varas MM, Cragnolini AB. Differential role of the hippocampus, amygdala, and dorsal raphe nucleus in regulating feeding, memory, and anxiety-like behavioral responses to ghrelin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004;313:635–41.
- [17] Carroll JA, Veum TL, Matteri RL. Endocrine responses to weaning and changes in post-weaning diet in the young pig. Domest Anim Endocrinol 1998;15: 183–94.
- [18] Chen CY, Chao Y, Chang FY, Chien EJ, Lee SD, Doong ML. Intracisternal des-acyl ghrelin inhibits food intake and non-nutrient gastric emptying in conscious rats. Int J Mol Med 2005;16:695–9.
- [19] Chen CY, Inui A, Asakawa A, Fujino K, Kato I, Chen CC, et al. Des-acyl ghrelin acts by CRF type 2 receptors to disrupt fasted stomach motility in conscious rats. Gastroenterology 2005;129:8–25.
- [20] Chen HY, Trumbauer ME, Chen AS, Weingarth DT, Adams JR, Frazier EG, et al. Orexigenic action of peripheral ghrelin is mediated by neuropeptide Y and agouti-related protein. Endocrinology 2004;145:2607–12.
- [21] Date Y, Murakami N, Kojima M, Kuroiwa T, Matsukura S, Kangawa K, et al. Central effects of a novel acylated peptide, ghrelin, on growth hormone release in rats. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000;275:477–80.
- [22] Dembinski A, Warzecha Z, Ceranowicz P, Tomaszewska R, Stachura J, Konturek SJ, et al. Ghrelin attenuates the development of acute pancreatitis in rat. J Physiol Pharmacol 2003;54:561–73.
- [23] Deng F, Ling J, Ma J, Liu C, Zhang W. Stimulation of intramembranous bone repair by ghrelin. Exp Physiol 2008;93:872–9.
- [24] Depoortere I, De Winter B, Thijs T, De Man J, Pelckmans P, Peeters T. Comparison of the gastroprokinetic effects of ghrelin GHRP-6 and motilin in rats in vivo and in vitro. Eur J Pharmacol 2005;515:160–8.
- [25] Dieguez C, Casanueva FF. Ghrelin: a step forward in the understanding of somatotroph cell function and growth regulation. Eur J Endocrinol 2000;142: 413–7.
- [26] Dimitrova DZ, Mihov DN, Wang R, Hristov KL, Rizov LI, Bolton TB, et al. Contractile effect of ghrelin on isolated guinea-pig renal arteries. Vascul Pharmacol 2007;47:31–40.
- [27] Di Vito L, Broglio F, Benso A, Gottero C, Papotti M, Muccioli G, et al. The GHreleasing effect of ghrelin, a natural GH secretagogue, is only blunted by the infusion of exogenous somatostatin in humans. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2002;56:643–8.
- [28] Du GM, Shi ZM, Wei XH, Liu MJ, Zhang L, Zhao RQ. Expression of gastric ghrelin and H(+)-K(+)-ATPase mRNA in weanling piglets and effect of ghrelin on H(+)-K(+)-ATPase expression and activity in gastric mucosal cells in vitro. Res Vet Sci 2007;82:99–104.
- [29] Fernández-Fernández R, Tena-Sempere M, Aguilar E, Pinilla L. Ghrelin effects on gonadotropin secretion in male and female rats. Neurosci Lett 2004;362(2):103–7.
- [30] Fernández-Fernández R, Tena-Sempere M, Navarro VM, Barreiro ML, Castellano JM, Aguilar E, et al. Effects of ghrelin upon gonadotropin-releasing hormone and gonadotropin secretion in adult female rats: in vivo and in vitro studies. Neuroendocrinology 2005;82(5-6):245–55.
- [31] Fernández-Fernández R, Tena-Sempere M, Roa J, Castellano JM, Navarro VM, Aguilar E, et al. Direct stimulatory effect of ghrelin on pituitary release of LH through a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism that is modulated by estrogen. Reproduction 2007;133(6):1223–32.
- [32] Fuglsang J. Ghrelin in pregnancy and lactation. Vitam Horm 2007;77:259– 84.
- [33] Fujimiya M, Asakawa A, Ataka K, Kato I, Inui A. Different effects of ghrelin, des-acyl ghrelin and obestatin on gastroduodenal motility in conscious rats. World J Gastroenterol 2008;14:6318–26.
- [34] Fujino K, Inui A, Asakawa A, Kihara N, Fujimura M, Fujimiya M. Ghrelin induces fasted motor activity of the gastrointestinal tract in conscious fed rats. J Physiol 2003;550:227–40.

- [35] Fukushima N, Hanada R, Teranishi H, Fukue Y, Tachibana T, Ishikawa H, et al. Ghrelin directly regulates bone formation. J Bone Miner Res 2005;20:790–8.
- [36] Furuta M, Funabashi T, Kimura F. Intracerebroventricular administration of ghrelin rapidly suppresses pulsatile luteinizing hormone secretion in ovariectomized rats. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2001;288:780–5.
- [37] García MC, López M, Alvarez CV, Casanueva F, Tena-Sempere M, Diéguez C. Role of ghrelin in reproduction. Reproduction 2007;133:531–40.
- [38] Gauna C, Delhanty PJ, Hofland LJ, Janssen JA, Broglio F, Ross RJ, et al. Ghrelin stimulates, whereas des-octanoyl ghrelin inhibits, glucose output by primary hepatocytes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005;90:1055–60.
- [39] Gaytan F, Barreiro ML, Caminos JE, Chopin LK, Herington AC, Morales C, et al. Expression of ghrelin and its functional receptor, the type 1a growth hormone secretagogue receptor, in normal human testis and testicular tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:400–9.
- [40] Gaytan F, Barreiro ML, Chopin LK, Herington AC, Morales C, Pinilla L, et al. Immunolocalization of ghrelin and its functional receptor, the type 1a growth hormone secretagogue receptor, in the cyclic human ovary. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:879–87.
- [41] Glavaski-Joksimovic A, Jeftinija K, Jeremic A, Anderson LL, Jeftinija S. Mechanism of action of the growth hormone secretagogue L-692 585 on isolated porcine somatotropes. J Endocrinol 2002;175:625–36.
- [42] Glavaski-Joksimovic A, Jeftinija K, Scanes CG, Anderson LL, Jeftinija S. Stimulatory effect of ghrelin on isolated porcine somatotropes. Neuroendocrinology 2003;77:367–79.
- [43] Gnanapavan S, Kola B, Bustin SA, Morris DG, McGee P, Fairclough P, et al. The tissue distribution of the mRNA of ghrelin and subtypes of its receptor, GHS-R, in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002;87:2988.
- [44] Govoni N, De Jasio R, Cocco C, Parmeggiani A, Galeati G, Pagotto U, et al. Gastric immunolocalization and plasma profiles of acyl-ghrelin in fasted and fasted-refed prepuberal gilts. J Endocrinol 2005;186:505–13.
- [45] Govoni N, Parmeggiani A, Galeati G, Penazzi P, De Iasio R, Pagotto U, et al. Acyl ghrelin and metabolic hormones in pregnant and lactating sows. Reprod Domest Anim 2007;42:39–43.
- [46] Grossini E, Molinari C, Mary DA, Ghigo E, Bona G, Vacca G. Intracoronary ghrelin infusion decreases coronary blood flow in anesthetized pigs. Endocrinology 2007;148:806–12.
- [47] Harrison JL, Miller DW, Findlay PA, Adam CL. Photoperiod influences the central effects of ghrelin on food intake GH and LH secretion in sheep. Neuroendocrinology 2008;87:182–92.
- [48] Hashimoto H, Fujihara H, Kawasaki M, Saito T, Shibata M, Otsubo H, et al. Centrally and peripherally administered ghrelin potently inhibits water intake in rats. Endocrinology 2007;148:1638–47.
- [49] Hashizume T, Horiuchi M, Tate N, Nonaka S, Mikami U, Kojima M. Effects of ghrelin on growth hormone secretion from cultured adenohypophyseal cells in pigs. Domest Anim Endocrinol 2003;24:209–18.
- [50] Hataya Y, Akamizu T, Takaya K, Kanamoto N, Ariyasu H, Saijo M, et al. A low dose of ghrelin stimulates growth hormone(GH) release synergistically with GH-releasing in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86:4552.
- [51] Hayashida T, Murakami K, Mogi K, Nishihara M, Nakazato M, Mondal M, et al. Ghrelin in domestic animals: distribution in stomach and its possible role. Domest Anim Endocrinol 2001;21:17–24.
- [52] Hedayati N, Annambhotla S, Jiang J, Wang X, Chai H, Lin PH, et al. Growth hormone-releasing peptide ghrelin inhibits homocysteine-induced endothelial dysfunction in porcine coronary arteries and human endothelial cells. J Vasc Surg 2009;49(1):199–207.
- [53] Hedemann MS, Hojsgaard S, Jensen BB. Small intestinal morphology and activity of intestinal peptidases in piglets around weaning. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr 2003;87:32–41.
- [54] Hehir MP, Glavey SV, Morrison JJ. Uterorelaxant effect of ghrelin on human myometrial contractility. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2008;198:323.
- [55] Hjelmesaeth J, Jenssen T, Hartmann A, Ghrelin. atherosclerosis, and glucose: GAG or causal relationships? Transplantation 2007;84:1220–1.
- [56] Howard AD, Feighner SD, Cully DF, Arena JP, Liberator PA, Rosenblum CI. A receptor in pituitary and hypothalamus that functions in growth hormone release. Science 1996;273:974–7.
- [57] Isidro ML, Nemina R, Garcia-Buela J, Sangiao-Alvarellos S, Cordido F. Effect of oral glucose on acylated and total Ghrelin secretion in acromegalic patients. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 2007;28:596–603.
- [58] Işeri SO, Sener G, Saglam B, Ercan F, Gedik N, Yeğen BC. Ghrelin alleviates biliary obstruction-induced chronic hepatic injury in rats. Regul Pept 2007;146:73–9.
- [59] Itoh F, Komatsu T, Kushibiki S, Hodate K. Effects of ghrelin injection on plasma concentrations of glucose, pancreatic hormones and cortisol in Holstein dairy cattle. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol 2006;143:97–102.
- [60] Ito T, Thidarmyint H, Murata T, Inoue H, Neyra RM, Kuwayama H. Effects of peripheral administration of PYY3-36 on feed intake and plasma acyl-ghrelin levels in pigs. J Endocrinol 2006;191:113–9.
- [61] Jankowska A, Laubitz D, Guillaume D, Kotunia A, Kapica M, Zabielski R. The effect of pentaghrelin on amylase release from the rat and porcine dispersed pancreatic acinar cells in vitro. Livest Sci 2007;108:65–7.
- [62] Kamegai J, Tamura H, Shimizu T, Ishii S, Sugihara H, Wakabayashi I. Central effect of ghrelin, an endogenous growth hormone secretagogue, on hypothalamic peptide gene expression. Endocrinology 2000;141:4797–800.
- [63] Kamegai J, Tamura H, Shimizu T, Ishii S, Tatsuguchi A, Sugihara H, et al. The role of pituitary ghrelin in growth hormone (GH) secretion: GH-releasing

hormone-dependent regulation of pituitary ghrelin gene expression and peptide content. Endocrinology 2004;145:3731–8.

- [64] Kawamura K, Sato N, Fukuda J, Kodama H, Kumagai J, Tanikawa H, et al. Ghrelin inhibits the development of mouse preimplantation embryos in vitro. Endocrinology 2003;144:2623–33.
- [65] Kitazawa T, De Smet B, Verbeke K, Depoortere I, Peeters TL. Gastric motor effects of peptide and non-peptide ghrelin agonists in mice in vivo and in vitro. Gut 2005;54:1078–84.
- [66] Kluge M, Schüssler P, Bleninger P, Kleyer S, Uhr M, Weikel JC, et al. Ghrelin alone or co-administered with GHRH or CRH increases non-REM sleep and decreases REM sleep in young males. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2008;33: 497–506.
- [67] Kluge M, Schüssler P, Zuber V, Kleyer S, Yassouridis A, Dresler M, et al. Ghrelin enhances the nocturnal secretion of cortisol and growth hormone in young females without influencing sleep. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2007;32: 1079–85.
- [68] Kojima M, Hosoda H, Date Y, Nakazato M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K. Ghrelin is a growth-hormone-releasing acylated peptide from stomach. Nature 1999;402:656–60.
- [69] Kojima M, Ida T, Sato T. Structure of mammalian and nonmammalian ghrelins. Vitam Horm 2008;77:31–46.
- [70] Kokkinos A, Mourouzis I, Kyriaki D, Pantos C, Katsilambros N, Cokkinos DV. Possible implications of leptin, adiponectin and ghrelin in the regulation of energy homeostasis by thyroid hormone. Endocrine 2007;32:30–2.
- [71] Kotunia A, Zabielski R. Ghrelin in the postnatal development of the gastrointestinal tract. J Physiol Pharmacol 2006;57(Suppl. 5):97–111.
- [72] Krzyzanowska-Swiniarska B, Kempa A, Miazgowski T, Pilarska K. Serum acylated ghrelin adiponectin and leptin levels in normal-weight and obese premenopausal women. Horm Metab Res 2007;39:835–9.
- [73] Kuramochi M, Kohno D, Onaka T, Kato S, Yada T. Galanin-like peptide and ghrelin increase cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> in neurons containing growth hormonereleasing hormone in the arcuate nucleus. Regul Pept 2005;126:85–9.
- [74] Lanfranco F, Baldi M, Cassoni P, Bosco M, Ghé C, Muccioli G. Ghrelin and prostate cancer. Vitam Horm 2007;77:301–24.
- [75] Lawrence CB, Snape AC, Baudoin FM, Luckman SM. Acute central ghrelin and GH secretagogues induce feeding and activate brain appetite centers. Endocrinology 2002;143:155–62.
- [76] Leite-Moreira AF, Rocha-Sousa A, Henriques-Coelho T. Cardiac, skeletal, and smooth muscle regulation by ghrelin. Vitam Horm 2007;77:207–38.
  [77] Luque RM, Kineman RD, Park S, Peng XD, Gracia-Navarro F, Castaño JP, et al.
- [77] Luque KM, Kineman KD, Park S, Peng XD, Gracia-Navarro F, Castaño JP, et al. Homologous and heterologous regulation of pituitary receptors for ghrelin and growth hormone-releasing hormone. Endocrinology 2004;145:3182– 9.
- [78] Luque RM, Park S, Peng XD, Delgado E, Gracia-Navarro F, Kineman RD, et al. Homologous and heterologous in vitro regulation of pig pituitary somatostatin receptor subtypes, sst1, sst2 and sst5 mRNA. J Mol Endocrinol 2004;32: 437–48.
- [79] Malagón MM, Luque RM, Ruiz-Guerrero E, Rodríguez-Pacheco F, García-Navarro S, Casanueva FF, et al. Intracellular signaling mechanisms mediating ghrelin-stimulated growth hormone release in somatotropes. Endocrinology 2003;144:5372–80.
- [80] Martini AC, Fernández-Fernández R, Tovar S, Navarro VM, Vigo E, Vazquez MJ, et al. Comparative analysis of the effects of ghrelin and unacylated ghrelin on luteinizing hormone secretion in male rats. Endocrinology 2006;147(5): 2374–82.
- [81] Matsuda K, Miura T, Kaiya H, Maruyama K, Shimakura S, Uchiyama M, et al. Regulation of food intake by acyl and des-acyl ghrelins in the goldfish. Peptides 2006;27:2321–5.
- [82] McCracken BA, Spurlock ME, Ross MA, Zuckerman FA, Gaskins HR. Weaning anorexia may contribute to local inflammation in piglet small intestine. J Nutr 1999;129:613–9.
- [83] Miljic D, Djurovic M, Pekic S, Doknic M, Stojanovic M, Milic N, et al. Glucose metabolism during ghrelin infusion in patients with anorexia nervosa. J Endocrinol Invest 2007;30:771–5.
- [84] Mladenov MI, Hristov KL, Duridanova DB. Ghrelin suppression of potassium currents in smooth muscle cells of human mesenteric artery. Gen Physiol Biophys 2006;25:333–8.
- [85] Molfino A, Laviano A, Fanelli FR, Muscaritoli M, Chiappini MG. Is des-acyl ghrelin contributing to uremic anorexia? Am J Clin Nutr 2007;86:1550–1.
- [86] Mundinger TO, Cummings DE, Taborsky GJJr. Direct stimulation of ghrelin secretion by sympathetic nerves. Endocrinology 2006;147:2893–901.
- [87] Nawrot-Porabka K, Jaworek J, Leja-Szpak A, Szklarczyk J, Macko M, Kot M, et al. The effect of luminal ghrelin on pancreatic enzyme secretion in the rat. Regul Pept 2007;143:56–63.
- [88] Peino R, Baldelli R, Rodriguz-Garcria J, Rodriguz-Segade S, Kojima M, Kangawa K, et al. Ghrelin-induced growth hormone secretion in humans. Eur J Endorcrinol 2000;143:R11–14.
- [89] Raghay K, García-Caballero T, Bravo S, Alvárez CV, González R, Diéguez C, et al. Ghrelin localization in the medulla of rat and human adrenal gland and in pheochromocytomas. Histol Histopathol 2008;23:57–65.
- [90] Rak A, Gregoraszczuk EL. Local feedback loop of ghrelin-GH in the pig ovary: Action on estradiol secretion, aromatase activity and cell apoptosis. Growth Horm IGF Res 2008;18(3):221–7.
- [91] Rak A, Szczepankiewicz D, Gregoraszczuk EL. Expression of ghrelin receptor, GHSR-1a, and its functional role in the porcine ovarian follicles. Growth Horm IGF Res 2009;19:68–76.

- [92] Rodríguez-Pacheco F, Luque RM, García-Navarro S, Gracia-Navarro F, Castaño JP, Malagón MM. Ghrelin induces growth hormone (GH) secretion via nitric oxide (NO)/cGMP signaling. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2005;1040:452-3.
- [93] Rossi F, Castelli A, Bianco MJ, Bertone C, Brama M, Santiemma V. Ghrelin induces proliferation in human aortic endothelial cells via ERK1/2 and PI3K/ Akt activation. Peptides 2008;29:2046-51.
- Rossi F, Castelli A, Bianco MJ, Bertone C, Brama M, Santiemma V. Ghrelin [94] inhibits contraction and proliferation of human aortic smooth muscle cells by cAMP/PKA pathway activation. Atherosclerosis 2009;203:97-104.
- [95] Salfen BE, Carroll JA, Keisler DH. Endocrine responses to short-term feed deprivation in weanling pigs. | Endocrinol 2003;178:541-51.
- [96] Salfen BE, Carroll JA, Keisler DH, Strauch TA. Effects of exogenous ghrelin on feed intake, weight gain, behavior, and endocrine responses in weanling pigs. | Anim Sci 2004;82:1957-66.
- [97] Schwenke DO, Tokudome T, Kishimoto I, Horio T, Shirai M, Cragg PA, et al. Early ghrelin treatment after myocardial infarction prevents an increase in cardiac sympathetic tone and reduces mortality. Endocrinology 2008;149: 5172-6.
- [98] Sirotkin AV, Benco A, Tandlmajerova A, Vasícek D, Kotwica J, Darlak K, et al. Transcription factor p53 can regulate proliferation, apoptosis and secretory activity of luteinizing porcine ovarian granulosa cell cultured with and without ghrelin and FSH. Reproduction 2008;136:611-8.
- [99] Smith RG, Pong SS, Hickey G, Jacks T, Cheng K, Leonard R, et al. Modulation of pulsatile GH release through a novel receptor in hypothalamus and pituitary gland. Recent Prog Horm Res 1996;51:261-85.
- [100] Sun Y, Asnicar M, Smith RG. Central and peripheral roles of ghrelin on glucose homeostasis. Neuroendocrinology 2007;86:215-28.
- [101] Takava K, Arivasu H, Kanamoto N, Iwakura H, Yoshimoto A, Harada M, et al. Ghrelin strongly stimulate growth hormone(GH) release in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000:85:4908-11.
- [102] Tanaka M, Havashida Y, Nakao N, Nakai N, Nakashima K, Testis-specific and developmentally induced expression of a ghrelin gene-derived transcript that encodes a novel polypeptide in the mouse. Biochim Biophys Acta 2001.1522.62-5
- [103] Tena-Sempere M. Ghrelin and reproduction: ghrelin as novel regulator of the gonadotropic axis. Vitam Horm 2008;77:285-300.
- [104] Tena-Sempere M. Ghrelin as a pleotrophic modulator of gonadal function and reproduction. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 2008;4:666-74
- [105] Tena-Sempere M, Barreiro ML, Gonzalez LC, Gaytan F, Zhang FP, Caminos JE, et al. Novel expression and functional role of ghrelin in rat testis. Endocrinology 2002;143:717-25.
- [106] Tolle V, Zizzari P, Tomasetto C, Rio MC, Epelbaum J. Bluet-Pajot. In vivo and in vitro effects of ghrelin/molitin-related peptide on growth hormone secretion in the rat. Neuroendocrinology 2001;73:54-61.
- [107] Toshinai K, Mondal MS, Nakazato M, Date Y, Murakami N, Kojima M, et al. Upregulation of ghrelin expression in the stomach upon fasting, insulininduced hypoglycemia, and leptin administration. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2001:281:1220-5.
- [108] Toshinai K, Mondal MS, Shimbara T, Yamaguchi H, Date Y, Kangawa K, et al. Ghrelin stimulates growth hormone secretion and food intake in aged rats. Mech Ageing Dev 2007;128(2):182-6.
- [109] Toshinai K, Yamaguchi H, Sun Y, Smith RG, Yamanaka A, Sakurai T, et al. Desacyl ghrelin induces food intake by a mechanism independent of the growth hormone secretagogue receptor. Endocrinology 2006;147:2306-14.
- [110] Toussirot E, Streit G, Nguyen NU, Dumoulin G, Le Huédé G, Saas P, et al. Adipose tissue, serum adipokines, and ghrelin in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Metabolism 2007;56:1383-9.

- [111] Trudel L, Tomasetto C, Rio MC, Bouin M, Plourde V, Eberling P, et al. Ghrelin/ motilin-related peptide is a potent prokinetic to reverse gastric postoperative ileus in rat. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2002;282:G948-952
- [112] Tümer C, Oflazoğlu HD, Obay BD, Kelle M, Taşdemir E. Effect of ghrelin on gastric myoelectric activity and gastric emptying in rats. Regul Pept 2007;146:26-32.
- [113] Van der Velde M, Delhanty P, van der Eerden B, van der Lely AJ, van Leeuwen J. Ghrelin and bone. Vitam Horm 2007;77:239-58.
- [114] Vestergaard ET, Djurhuus CB, Gjedsted J, Nielsen S, Møller N, Holst JJ, et al. Acute effects of ghrelin administration on glucose and lipid metabolism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008;93:438-44.
- [115] Vizcarra JA, Kirby JD, Kim SK, Galyean ML. Active immunization against ghrelin decreases weight gain and alters plasma concentrations of growth hormone in growing pigs. Domest Anim Endocrinol 2007;33:176-89.
- [116] Waseem T, Duxbury M, Ito H, Ashley SW, Robinson MK. Exogenous ghrelin modulates release of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in LPS-stimulated macrophages through distinct signaling pathways. Surgery 2008:143:334-42.
- [117] Wierup N, Björkqvist M, Weström B, Pierzynowski S, Sundler F, Sjölund K. Ghrelin and motilin are cosecreted from a prominent endocrine cell population in the small intestine. | Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007;92:3573-81.
- Wren AM, Small CI, Word HL, Murphy KG, Dakin CL, Taheri S, et al. The novel [118] hypothalamic peptide ghrelin stimulates food intake and growth hormone secretions. Endocrinology 2000;141:4325-8.
- [119] Wu R, Zhou M, Das P, Dong W, Ji Y, Yang D, et al. Ghrelin inhibits sympathetic nervous activity in sepsis. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2007;293:E1697-1702
- [120] Yamazkai M, Nakamura K, Kobayashi H, Matsubara M, Hayyashi Y, kangawa K, et al. Regulation effect of ghrelin on growth hormone secretion from perifused rat anterior pituitary cells. J Neuroendocrinol 2002;14:156–62. [121] Yang LY, Yang WY, Ji FJ, Zhao YC, Jia R, Wang Z. Study on gene cloning and
- mRNA distribution of pig ghrelin. J Jilin Agric Univ 2004;26:86–8. [122] Yang LY, Yang WY, Zhao YC, Qian J, Wang Z, Chemical Synthesis. Prokaryotic
- Expression of Ghrelin of Pig. Chin J Vet Sci 2005;25:614-6.
- [123] Yin J, Li X, Li D, Yue T, Fang Q, Ni J, et al. Dietary supplementation with zinc oxide stimulates ghrelin secretion from the stomach of young pigs. | Nutr Biochem, in press
- [124] Yoshihara F. Kojima M. Hosoda H. Nakazato M. Kangawa K. Ghrelin: a novel peptide for growth hormone releaseand feeding regulation. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2002:5:391-5.
- [125] Zhang HW, Yin JD, Li DF, Zhou X, Li X. Tryptophan enhances ghrelin expression and secretion associated with increased food intake and weight gain in weanling pigs. Domest Anim Endocrinol 2007;33:47-61.
- [126] Zhang K, Wei HX, Zhang YH, Wang SH, Li Y, Dai YP, et al. Effects of ghrelin on in vitro development of porcine in vitro fertilized and parthenogenetic embryos. J Reprod Dev 2007;53:647-53.
- [127] Zhang W, Chai B, Li JY, Wang H, Mulholland MW. Effect of des-acyl ghrelin on adiposity and glucose metabolism. Endocrinology 2008;149:4710-6.
- [128] Zhang W, Lei Z, Su J, Chen S. Expression of ghrelin in the porcine hypothalamo-pituitary-ovary axis during the estrous cycle. Anim Reprod Sci 2008:109:356-67.
- [129] Zhang W, Zhao L, Mulholland MW. Ghrelin stimulates myocyte development. Cell Physiol Biochem 2007;20:659-64.
- [130] Zhan M, Yuan F, Liu H, Chen H, Qiu X, Fang W. Inhibition of proliferation and apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells by ghrelin. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai) 2008;40:769-76.